THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-40-07134  
Appellate Case No. 2012-213441

RECEIVED

SEP 27 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Glenda Couram..... Appellant,

v.

Lula N. Davis, Shirley Rivers, Constance "Connie" Rhett, Marcia Adams, Dottie Blankenship,  
Tosha Autry, Steven W. Lake and SC Department of Motor Vehicles in their official and  
individual capacities ..... Respondent

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**  
**corrected**

---

Glenda Couram, *pro se*  
104 Macaw Lane  
Lexington, SC 29073  
(803) 896-7506 (w)  
grcouram@hotmail.com

### JURISDICTION

As for appellate jurisdiction, Richland County circuit court Judge entered its order to dismiss with prejudice on or about November 7, 2012. Appellant timely filed Notices of Appeal on or about November 10, 2012 and filed a Motion to Reconsider it was denied on or about January 7, 2013.

### SERVICE OF PROCESS

Appellant initiated the circuit court proceeding by suing all Defendants both in their official and individual capacities each Defendant was served personally, via the SC Attorney General Office and to the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles (hereafter "SCDMV) registered Agent and Attorney Eugene Matthews, Esq., since November 13, 2008, pursuant to SCRCP 4 and 5.

### BACKGROUND

#### A. EXHAUSTING REQUIRED ADMINISTRATIVE REMDIES<sup>1</sup>

1. This matter was initially filed as a claim for discrimination. In compliance with state and federal law Appellant filed an Intake Questionnaire with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (hereafter "EEOC") and South Carolina Human Affairs Commission (hereafter "SCHAC) on or about October 29, 2008.
2. The verified discrimination charge, was signed under penalty<sup>2</sup> of perjury on or about November 13, 2008, the discrimination charge was filed to SCDMV on or about November 18,

---

<sup>1</sup> South Carolina is a "deferral state" is one which has a state law "prohibiting the unlawful employment practice alleged" and a state or local agency authorized "to grant or seek relief" from the practice. See id. §2000e-5(c).

<sup>2</sup> This Court would be hard pressed to take issue with the EEOC's position after deciding, in *Becker v. Montgomery*, 532 U. S. 757, 765(2001), that a failure to comply with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11's signature requirement did not require dismissal of a timely filed but unsigned notice of appeal because nothing prevented later cure of the signature defect. There is no reason to think that relation back of the oath here is any less reasonable than relation back of the signature in *Becker*.

2008, under the signature of Patricia Fuller which the EEOC<sup>3</sup> addressed to Marcia Adams outlining the actions that must be taken by December 8, 2008 as a result of the discrimination charges filed.

3. A copy of the "Right to Sue" letter was sent to Appellant on or about October 9, 2009, informing Appellant that the claim was disallowed by SCDMV and its registered agent. A copy of the "Right to Sue" letter was also sent to Matthews. Appellant was told she must file a civil action in federal or state court within 90 days. Appellant timely filed federal and state-law claims on or about January 4, 2010 in federal court.

**B. APPELLANT'S EMPLOYMENT HISTORY:**

Plaintiff/Appellant began working for South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles on or about October 2004 as a temporary and was hired as a permanent employee on or about July 17, 2006. Appellant gained standing on or about July 17, 2007 which basically means that the Appellant had grievance rights and the Defendants must provide progressive discipline as outlined by the SC Budget and Control Board and SCDMV Policies and Procedure before termination. Appellant completed five years of employment and is vested.

**C. JUDGE PERRY FEDERAL COURT PROCEEDINGS**

On March 2011, US Chief Federal District Judge Matthew Perry (hereafter "Judge Perry") dismissed Appellant's discrimination claims with prejudice and declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state pendant law claims pursuant 28 USC 42 §1447. Defendants filed a Motion to Reconsider Judge Perry's decision to dismiss the state claims without prejudice Judge Perry denied the motion on May 2011.

After dismissal of the state pendant law claims *without prejudice* the Appellant timely refiled the state pendant claims in Richland County state circuit court for violation of her constitutional rights under state law, gross negligence, civil conspiracy, defamation and intentional infliction of emotional distress, (outrage) etc., timely on or about October 25, 2011. Pursuant to 28 USC 42 §1367.

**D. OCTOBER 25, 2011 PROCEEDINGS**

After refiled on October 25, 2011, the Defendants filed a Notice of Removal dated on or about November 21, 2011 and an Answer on or about November 29, 2011 on the grounds of res judicata and collateral estoppel. Appellant filed a motion to remand and disclaimer stating she was not refiled federal causes of action. After about a year the Appellant's state claims were remanded back to state court by Order of US Chief District Judge Margaret B. Seymour (hereafter "Judge Seymour").

**E. NOVEMBER 5, 2012 STATE COURT PROCEEDINGS:**

After remand on August 21, 2012 a protracted hearing on November 5, 2012 the case was dismissed by the circuit court Judge Manning on or about November 7, 2012 and the Motion to Reconsider was denied on or about February 7, 2013.

**STANDARD OF REVIEW**

**A. MOTION TO DISMISS**

"In deciding a motion to dismiss pursuant to SCRCP 12(b)(6), the trial court should consider only the allegations set forth on the face of the plaintiff's complaint. A 12(b)(6) motion should not be granted if 'facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case.' The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states

any valid claim for relief. Further, the complaint should not be dismissed merely because the *court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action.*” Plyler v. Burns, 373 S.C. 637, 645 (2007) (internal citations omitted).

In considering such a motion, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on *any* theory, then the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper. Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999).

See Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987). The circuit court must base its ruling solely upon the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint. Doe v. Greenville County Sch. Dist., 375 S.C. 63, 66–67, 651 S.E.2d 305, 307 (2007). The motion may not be sustained if the facts alleged in the complaint and the inferences drawn therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief under any theory. *Id.* “[P]leadings in a case should be construed liberally and the Court must presume all well pled facts to be true so that substantial justice is done between the parties.” Overcash v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co., 364 S.C. 569, 572, 614 S.E.2d 619, 620 (2005) (citing Stroud v. Riddle, 260 S.C. 99, 102, 194 S.E.2d 235, 237 (1973)). See Gentry v. Yonce, 337 S.C. 1, 522 S.E.2d 137 (1999).

## **B. STANDARD FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT**

In deciding a summary judgment motion, the court, or judge, reviews the pleadings, any depositions, any answers to interrogatories, any admissions on file, and any affidavits. Summary judgment should be granted only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. A material fact is a fact that could affect the outcome of the case. An issue of fact is genuine if the evidence would justify a verdict for the party opposing the summary judgment motion. All

inferences drawn from the evidence presented and all ambiguities must be resolved in favor of the party who opposes the summary judgment motion. *Am. Home Assurance Co. v. United Space Alliance, LLC*, 378 F.3d 482, 486 (5th Cir. 2004).

In the Fifth Circuit that court held: In reviewing this decision, we use the same standards as the district court. *Pegram v. Honeywell, Inc.*, 361 F.3d 272, 278 (5th Cir. 2004). In other words, we ask whether the movant has shown the nonexistence of any genuine issues of material fact and that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

"When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to SCRCP 56(c)." *Fleming*, 350 S.C. at 493, 567 S.E.2d at 860 (citing *Peterson v. West Am. Ins. Co.*, 336 S.C. 89, 94, 518 S.E.2d 608, 610 (Ct. App. 1999)). If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury." *Young v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 333 S.C. 714, 717, 511 S.E.2d 413, 415 (Ct. App. 1999).

In *Vermeer Carolina's Inc. v. Wool/Chuck Chipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 59, 518 S.E.2d 301, 305 (Ct. App. 1999) the court held: "Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law."<sup>4</sup> See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(e) The moving party has the burden of proving that summary judgment is appropriate.

The court in *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986) held "In deciding whether there is a genuine issue of material fact exist the evidence of the non-moving party *is to be believed* and all justifiable inferences must be drawn in favor of the non-moving party.

---

<sup>4</sup> In *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986) that court held: Summary judgment is appropriate only "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

Moreover, summary judgment is a drastic remedy that should be cautiously invoked to ensure no person is improperly deprived of a trial of disputed factual issues. *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C.*, 349 S.C. 356, 363, 563 S.E.2d 331, 334 (2002).

If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. *Rothrock v. Copeland*, 305 S.C. 402, 409 S.E.2d 366 (1991).

### **C. PRO SE STANDARD**

The Defendants takes exception to the fact that Couram is *pro se* and ask the court to treat Couram in the same manner as a learned attorney such as himself and stated that the claims against the Defendants are "ridiculous." Couram's causes of action or complaint before this court has at no time been determined to have been frivolous or without merit, therefore the conclusion of the defense that her claims are "self serving." The fact is Couram is *pro se* and Judge Manning and Barber was under well established law to not treat as a learned attorney and allow her to be taken advantage of because of *her pro se* status.

The Courts are charged with liberally construing a pleading filed by a *pro se* litigant to allow for the development of a potentially meritorious claim. See *Boag v. MacDougall*, 454 U.S. 364, 365 (1982). In *Weller v. Dep't of Soc. Servs.*, 901 F.2d 387 (4th Cir. 1990) the court held: Although the legal theories within a *pro se* complaint are (maybe added) difficult to discern, courts traditionally view civil rights complaints, particularly those brought *pro se*, with "special judicial solicitude." See e.g., *Harrison v. U.S. Postal Service*, 840 F.2d 1149, 1152 (4th Cir.1988); and *Gordon Leeke*, 574 F.2d 1147, 1151 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 970, 99 S.Ct. 464, 58 L.Ed.2d 431 (1978).

Thus, before the circuit court granted the dismissal it was incumbent on Judge Manning to apply the standards of *White v. Bloom*, 621 F.2d 276 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1980)<sup>5</sup> where it states the Court has a higher standard when faced with a motion to dismiss a pro se complaint instead the Judge he allowed the Respondents to introduce dates already fully adjudicated and dismissed by Judge Perry and take advantage of the *pro se* and become the “master” of Couram’s pleading. (R. p. 31 lines 19-25, R. p. 32, lines 1-6)

**D. “RELATE BACK” DOCTRINE**

Dismissal of a complaint does not bar a subsequent action brought before expiration of the statute of limitations if the dismissal is based merely on the insufficiency of the complaint. *Sealy v. Dodge*, 289 S.C. 543, 347 S.E.2d 504 (1986); See also *Hennegan v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, 211 S.C. 357, 45 S.E.2d 331 (1947). Appellants state pendant claims has never been fully adjudicated on their merits.

**E. DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA (T. Pg. 29)**

“To establish a res judicata defense, a party must establish: a final judgment on the merits in a prior suit, an identity of the cause of action in both the earlier and the later suit, and an identity of parties or their privies in the two suits.” *Jones v. SEC*, 115 F.3d 1173, 1178 (4th Cir.1997) (internal quotation marks omitted), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1072, 118 S.Ct. 1512, 140 L.Ed.2d 666 (1998).

**LEGAL ANALYSIS**

**ARGUMENT**

**I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERR AND ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY GOING BEYOND THE FOUR CORNERS OF THE APPELLANT’S PLEADING**

---

<sup>5</sup> See *Haines v. Kerner*, 404 U.S. 519, 520-21, 92 S. Ct. 594, 596, 30 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1972). See *Erickson v. Pardus*, 551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007). See *Bonner v. Circuit Court of St. Louis*, 526 F.2d 1331, 1334 (8th Cir. 1975) (quoting *Bramlet v. Wilson*, 495 F.2d 714, 716 (8th Cir. 1974

**ASSUMING FACTS NOT ALLEGED IN THE PLEADING TO FACILITATE AND GRANT THE DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS?**

Couram preserved her rights to the common law action on November 5, 2012 (R. pp. 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22 23 lines 3-23, lines 1-8, lines 5-9 and lines 1-24) and evidentiary dates of injury.<sup>6</sup>

Also, it goes on to state that as far as the common law claims are concerned, Mr. Matthews said that there was a two-year statute of limitations and from what I understand that is not true. Section 15-3-530 says that there is a three year statute of limitations.

THE COURT: He was referring to a two-year statute in connection with suing a state agency, I believe.

COURAM: Excuse me?

THE COURT: Go ahead

COURAM: Okay

THE COURT: Don't let me stop you.

COURAM: According to Section 5 – 15-3-530 – there is a three year statute of limitation for civil conspiracy claims, for gross negligence and so forth and for common law claims which I was well within and I had timely filed for that in this Court.

So my – my Amended Complaint would not be futile as Mr. Matthews is claiming it would be because I have not missed any of the statute of limitations according to the sections and the code of law by the State of South Carolina.

And, again I object going over the Motion to Dismiss at this time because I didn't have (time) to type up or prepare anything to submit to the Court as I should have been allowed.

A. The circuit court abuse its discretion when it denied the Appellant's Request to Amend stating that to do so would be an act of futility under because her claims are barred by the Statute of Limitations S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-530(4)(5) and pursuant to SRCRP 15(c).

---

<sup>6</sup> Discovery was completed November 2010, dispositions, affidavits, copies of personal files, interrogatories, production, etc., all a matter of record.

Allowing the Appellant to amend her complaint would not have been futile even if the Appellant had brought claims under the SCTCA. Nowhere on the face of the pleading are their allegations of discrimination. Those claims were dismissed with prejudice on March 2011.

Couram brought actions of gross negligence, civil conspiracy, outrage and defamation that is clear on the face of her complaint these claims fall under the common laws of the State of South Carolina S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-530(4)(5) and has a three statute of limitations they were timely filed in January 4, 2010 and they do “relate back.” Couram timely refiled within the three years of statute of limitations on October 25, 2011.

Even if Couram had brought claims or the claims under the SCTCA were before Judge Manning Couram’s claims were also timely pursuant to 28 USC 42 §1367. As the statute of limitations were “stopped” or suspended while this matter was pending in federal court and it was not dismissed until March 2011.

**II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR AND ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT’S REQUEST TO AMEND STATING TO AMEND PURSUANT TO RULE 15(c)?**

Respondents claim that to have allowed Couram to Amend would have been futile because her common law state pendant law claims are barred under SCTCA two year.

The South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a) requires that leave to amend a complaint “be freely given if justice so requires....” Our Courts have interpreted this rule liberally. “Leave to amend pleadings pursuant to SCRCP 15(a), shall be liberally and freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party.” *Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 493 S.E.2d 826 (1997); *Pruitt v. Bowers*, 330 S.C. 483, 499 S.E.2d 250 (S.C. App. 1998). “This rule strongly favors amendments and the Court is encouraged to

freely grant leave to amend.” Jarrell v. Seaboard Sys. R.R., 294 S.C. 183, 363 S.E.2d 398 (S.C. App. 1987).

The prejudice SCRPC 15 envisions is a *lack of notice* that the new issue is to be tried and a lack of opportunity to refute it. *Id.* The only one who was prejudice was the Appellant. See Foggie v. CSX Transp., Inc., 315 S.C. 17, 22, 431 S.E.2d 587, 590 (1993). The “prejudice” in question is lack of notice that a new issue is going to be tried and lack of opportunity to refute it. Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 413, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000).

The questions that was before Judge Manning was if the Defendants had all the information they presented for the first time on November 5, 2012, why did they file a motion to remove? There was no reason for them to have removed this matter back federal court, paid the filing fee and allow it to remain in federal court for a year. The federal court had authority to dismiss the claims based if the information in the Defendants “brief” were factual. (R. p. 25 line 23).

Finally, the request to amend was not futile. The courts have held: for a motion to amend to be futile, it must be clearly be insufficient or frivolous on its face. Johnson v. Oroweat Foods Co., 785 F.2d 503, 510 (4th Cir. 1986). See Nolte v. Capital One Financial Corp., 390 F.3d 311 (4th Cir. 2004) (amendment denied as futile when it does not cure deficiencies previously identified by the Court). Appellant cured all deficiencies prior to remand by Judge Seymour when she said according to the Defendants (R. p 13 lines 1-4):

MATTHEWS:.....And on August 21, in response to that motion<sup>7</sup> Judge Seymour was the one who said I’ll lift this Complaint, I don’t think they are federal claims and I’m not going to exercise jurisdiction over them and you’re going back to state court.

---

<sup>7</sup> The Defendants August 9, 2012 Motion to Dismiss.

The courts have stated: “When a plaintiff is not given the opportunity to file and serve an amended complaint, but is left with no choice but to appeal after dismissal of her case with prejudice, an appellate court which affirms the dismissal may modify the lower court’s order to find the dismissal is without prejudice. When the statute of limitations has expired, the appellate court may in its discretion impose a reasonable period of time in which to amend the complaint. An appellate court should follow this procedure when the plaintiff presents additional factual allegations or a different theory of recovery which, taken as true in a well-pleaded complaint, may state a claim upon which relief may be granted. *Potter, Prescott, Jamieson & Nelson, P.A. v. Campbell*, 708 A.2d 283, 286-87 (Me. 1998) (trial court acted within its discretion in dismissing case with prejudice pursuant to SCRPC 12(b)(6) where plaintiff was unable to show how he would cure defects in his complaint if granted leave to amend it); *Barkley v. Good Will Home Assn.*, 495 A.2d 1238 (Me. 1985) (in absence of bad or dilatory motives on the part of plaintiff or undue prejudice to defendant, the trial court abused its discretion by denying the plaintiff an opportunity to amend her complaint after it was dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6)).<sup>8</sup>

Rule 15(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure governs amendments to pleadings. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(1)(B) provides: “An amendment to a pleading relates back to the date of the original pleading when . . . the amendment asserts a claim or defense that arose out of the conduct, transaction or occurrence set out . . . in the original pleading.” *Id. Mylan Laboratories, Inc. v. Matkari*, F.3d 1130, 1134 (4th Cir. 1993) (citations omitted).<sup>9</sup>

---

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