ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

NOV 22 2013

SC Court of Appeals

---

Case No.: 2011-CP-40-07134  
Appellate Case No. 2012-213441

---

Glenda R. Couram,

Appellant,

v.

Lula N. Davis, Shirley Rivers, Constance "Connie" Rhett, Marcia Adams, Dottie Blankenship, Tosha Autry, Steven W. Lake and SC Department of Motor Vehicles, in their official and individual capacities,

Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Eugene H. Matthews  
RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A.  
Post Office Drawer 7788  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

### ARGUMENT

- I. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS CORRECTLY FIND THAT THE APPELLANT’S MOTION TO AMEND HER COMPLAINT WAS FUTILE, AND PROPERLY DISMISSED, BECAUSE HER PROPOSED CLAIMS WERE BARRED UNDER THE APPROPRIATE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?
  - A. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS CORRECTLY FIND THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT FILE A VERIFIED COMPLAINT AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA TORT CLAIMS ACT?

---

<sup>4</sup> According to SCDMV, Appellant was actually reassigned, effective December 8, 2008, to another position in the Information Management branch of the Driver Records section under a new supervisor, Gail Allison. However, for purposes of this motion, whether the date of the move to her new position was in November or December 2008 is of no consequence.

The Appellant has based her argument, in part, on her insistence that her Charge of Discrimination filed with the South Carolina Human Affairs Commission was a “verified complaint” under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-80. She makes this argument so that the three-year statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110 would apply to her claims. For the reasons set forth below, her argument in this regard is baseless.

Filing a verified claim under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act is governed by the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-80, which requires, in pertinent part:

(a) A verified claim for damages under this chapter, setting forth the circumstances which brought about the loss, the extent of the loss, the time and place the loss occurred, the names of all persons involved if known, and the amount of the loss sustained may be filed:

(1) in cases against the State, with the State Budget and Control Board, or with the agency employing an employee whose alleged act or omission gave rise to the claim;

(2) where the claim is against a political subdivision, with the political subdivision employing an employee whose alleged act or omission gave rise to the claim;

(3) where the identification of the proper defendant is in doubt, with the Attorney General.

(b) Each agency and political subdivision must designate an employee or office to accept the filing of the claims.

(c) Filing may be accomplished by receipt of certified mailing of the claims or by compliance with the provisions of law relating to service of process.

(d) The verified claim may be received by the Budget and Control Board or the appropriate agency or political subdivision. If filed, the claim must be received within one year after the loss was or should have been discovered.

(e) In all cases in which a claim is filed, the Budget and Control Board or political subdivision has one hundred eighty days from the date of filing of the claim in which to determine whether the claim should be allowed or disallowed. Failure to

notify the claimant of action upon the claim within one hundred eighty days from the date of filing of the claim is considered a disallowance of the claim.

(emphasis added). In the instant case, presuming the latest date of the alleged “loss” was on or before December 8, 2008, Plaintiff would need to have filed her verified claim under the S.C. Tort Claims Act on or before December 8, 2009 to extend the statute of limitations for torts brought against the Defendants from two to three years under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110.

Plaintiff cannot show that she filed a verified claim with either the South Carolina Budget & Control Board and/or SCDMV on or before December 8, 2009, or for that matter, at any time. Nor is filing a verified claim a mere formality, or otherwise subject to “substantial compliance.” Indeed, South Carolina’s courts have “repeatedly held strict compliance with the verified claim statute is mandatory.” *Joubert v. South Carolina Dept. of Social Services*, 341 S.C. 176, 189, 534 S.E.2d 1, 8 (S.C. App. 2000) (citations omitted). Her apparent argument that her Charge of Discrimination serves as a proxy for a verified claim simply has no basis in law.

Thus, under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110, Plaintiff’s claims are governed by a two-year statute of limitations. Because Plaintiff’s allegations are based on actions that purportedly occurred on or before December 8, 2008, or should have been discovered no later than May 2008, each of her claims must be dismissed with prejudice as untimely.

**B. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS CORRECTLY FIND THAT S.C. CODE ANN: § 15-78-110 WAS THE PROPER STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR THE CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS?**

Appellant next appears to argue that the two-year statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110 should apply, if at all, only to the SCDMV and not the individual

Respondents. Her argument in this regard relies on a federal court's construction of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(b). The statute provides that “[n]othing in [the SCTCA] may be construed to give an employee of a government entity immunity from suit and liability if it is proved that the employee’s conduct was not within the scope of his official duties or that it constituted actual fraud, actual malice, intent to harm, or a crime involving moral turpitude.” For the reasons listed below, her argument fails.

As an initial matter, Plaintiff’s argument has been explicitly rejected by this Court in its ruling in *Joubert*. In that case, as here, the plaintiff argued that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(b) rendered the statute of limitations set by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110 inapplicable. 341 S.C. at 184-185, 534 S.E.2d at 5. Addressing plaintiff’s argument, with regard to the effect of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(b) on the Act’s statute of limitations, the Court stated as follows:

Absolutely nothing in subsection (b) references a limitation period and, as part of the general Torts Claims Act statutory scheme, it is subject to the Act’s statutory limitations as prescribed in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110.

*Id.*; see also *Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 208, 584 S.E.2d 413, 419 (S.C. App. 2003) (S.C. Tort Claims Act’s two-year statute of limitations governed common law causes of action for outrage, invasion of privacy, and civil conspiracy, and “[a]bsolutely nothing” in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(b) references a limitations period).

Appellant relies on *Smith v. City of Greenwood*, 2010 WL 2382479 (D.S.C. June 14, 2010) to support her proposition. Such reliance is unavailing, as it is well-established that a federal court decision interpreting state law is not binding on South Carolina courts, and the holding by the federal court in *Smith* conflicts directly with this Court’s

holdings in *Joubert* and *Flateau*. See *Blyth v. Marcus*, 335 S.C. 363, 517 S.E.2d 433 (1999).

C. DID THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS CORRECTLY APPLY THE PROPER STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS TO THE CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS IN VIEW OF THE TOLLING PROVISIONS OF 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d)?

Appellant next appears to argue, even if the two-year statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110 applies to any Respondent, the claims are still not barred because they should “relate back” to her Complaint filed in January 2010 (“Couram I”) under the application of 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d). Put more precisely, Appellant would like for her state law claims to come under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d)’s tolling provision, which presumably would place them all within the two-year statute of limitations.

First, Appellant’s argument in this regard is only applicable to the two state law claims that she brought in Couram I – her claims for (1) intentional infliction of emotional distress, and (2) civil conspiracy. (R. pp. 33-51). Because she did not bring her claims for defamation or gross negligence (as a separate claim from emotional distress) in Couram I, these claims cannot “relate back” to her January 2010 Complaint, and are not subject to the “tolling” provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d). *Jinks v. Richland County*, 538 U.S. 456, 123 S.Ct. 1667, 155 L.Ed.2d 631 (2003). For this reason alone, the defamation or gross negligence can only “relate back” to the first complaint filed as Couram II on October 25, 2011 – not the first complaint in Couram I – and are thus beyond the applicable two-year statute of limitation.

Second, even under the broadest interpretation of the tolling provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d), Appellant cannot argue that her emotional distress and civil conspiracy

claims “arose” within the applicable limitations period. By her own admission, the alleged “abuse” giving rise to these claims apparently began long before the expiration of the statute of limitations – in some cases, no later than May 2008, and in others long before. (R. p. 52, Appellant’s Complaint from October 25, 2011, p. 1). Therefore, date of the “discovery” of her claims would pre-date the “reach back” of a two-year statute of limitations, accounting for the six-month period between April and October 2011, and the 18-month period prior to her initial complaint in Couram I in January 2010. *Joubert*, 341 S.C. at 8-9, 534 S.E.2d at 190-192.

D. DID THE TWO-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-550 OTHERWISE BAR APPELLANT’S DEFAMATION CLAIM?

Finally, Appellant’s arguments that a three-year statute of limitations applies to her defamation claim are simply non-sensical. Even in the absence of a two-year statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110, defamation still comes under a two-year statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-550. Further, because Appellant did not even raise a defamation claim until her Third Amended Complaint in 2012, and her claim for defamation arose no later than 2008, there is simply no way that her defamation claim was brought within the proper statute of limitations.

II. WAS APPELLANT’S MOTION TO AMEND HER COMPLAINT ALSO FUTILE BECAUSE HER PROPOSED CLAIMS WERE SUBJECT TO DISMISSAL ON GROUNDS OTHER THAN THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?

Of course, the applicable statutes of limitations were not the only grounds on which the Court of Common Pleas dismissed Appellant’s claims. The Court of Common

Pleas listed several independent grounds for dismissal of several of the Appellant's claims. (R. pp. 22-31). Further, there are additional grounds in the record on appeal from which this Court can affirm dismissal of the Appellant's claims with prejudice. Rule 220(c), SCACR (an appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal). This is especially the case since Appellant has asserted that discovery in this case "has been completed." (Appellant's Final Brief, p. 30).

For the reasons set forth below, in addition to and separate from those related to the applicable statute of limitations, this Court should affirm the dismissal of Appellant's claims with prejudice.

A. WAS APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR CIVIL CONSPIRACY PROPERLY SUBJECT TO DISMISSAL FOR THE REASONS STATED BY THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS, OR FOR REASONS OTHERWISE SUPPORTED IN THE RECORD?

In addition to the fact that the claim is barred by the applicable statute of limitations, Appellant's claim for civil conspiracy must be dismissed (1) under the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine, (2) under *Lawson v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, and (3) because, as matter of law, Appellant has failed to establish a *prima facie* case of civil conspiracy. For these reasons, the order of the Court of Common Pleas dismissing her civil conspiracy claim with prejudice must be affirmed.

- i. Appellant's Civil Conspiracy claim must be dismissed because it is barred under the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine.

Appellant brought her civil conspiracy claim against "all Defendants" – including SCDMV – for allegedly conspiring to injure her. (R. p. 119). As the South Carolina

Supreme Court recently noted, it is well-settled that an entity cannot conspire with itself, or when the alleged acts arise in the context of a principal-agent relationship, because such acts do not involve separate entities. *McMillan v. Oconee Memorial Hosp., Inc.*, 367 S.C. 559, 564, 626 S.E.2d 884, 887 (2006).

Appellant's allegations arise in the context of the principal-agent relationship. Appellant brought her civil conspiracy claim against SCDMV, and against each of the individual Respondents because he or she is – or was – a supervisor or official at SCDMV. As stated in *McMillan*,

A civil conspiracy cannot be found to exist when the acts alleged are those of employees or directors, in their official capacity, conspiring with the corporation. As a result, we hold that no conspiracy can exist if the conduct challenged is a single act by a single corporation acting exclusively through its own directors, officers, and employees, each acting within the scope of his employment.

367 S.C. at 564, 626 S.E.2d at 887. For this reason alone, Appellant's civil conspiracy claim must be dismissed with prejudice.

- ii. Appellant's allegations fail to state a civil conspiracy claim under *Lawson v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*.

As a matter of law, Appellant's allegations do not state a cause of action for civil conspiracy, especially in view of the fact that she has remained an employee of SCDMV, and by her own account has been employed at SCDMV for nearly a decade. *Lawson v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 340 S.C. 346, 532 S.E.2d 259 (2000).

In *Lawson*, an employee of the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) sued two of his supervisors for allegedly conspiring to terminate his employment. 340 S.C. at 349, 532 S.E.2d at 260. The South Carolina Supreme Court

granted summary judgment on the claim, noting that “[a]llegations based solely upon two supervisors discussing whether to terminate an at-will employee would not support a conspiracy cause of action.” 340 S.C. at 352, 532 S.E.2d at 261-262.

Similarly, the types of complaints made by Appellant – that her supervisors and other SCDMV officials conspired to interfere with her employment – are simply not cognizable under the precedent established in *Lawson*. For this reason alone, dismissal of her civil conspiracy claim with prejudice must be affirmed.

iii. Appellant’s allegations fail to state a civil conspiracy claim for the reasons articulated in *Couram I*.

Appellant’s declaration that discovery has been completed brings with it the consequences that a court has previously found that has she failed to present evidence – rather than merely make allegations – sufficient to establish a civil conspiracy claim. With no discovery taking place since the Respondents filed their Motion for Summary Judgment in *Couram I*, there has been no new evidence presented to any court since Magistrate Judge Gossett found that Appellant failed to establish a *prima facie* case of civil conspiracy, or that the claim was barred by Proviso 89.146. 2010 WL 6065084, at \*3. Quite simply, in the absence of any additional evidence presented in the record to substantiate her claims, Appellant’s claim for civil conspiracy cannot survive, and its dismissal by the trial court must be affirmed.

B. WAS APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS PROPERLY SUBJECT TO DISMISSAL FOR THE REASONS STATED BY THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS, OR FOR REASONS OTHERWISE SUPPORTED IN THE RECORD?

In addition to the fact that the claim is barred by the applicable statute of limitations, Appellant's claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress must be dismissed (1) under the doctrine of worker's compensation exclusivity, and (2) because, as matter of law, the Appellant has failed to establish a *prima facie* case of intentional infliction of emotional distress. For these reasons, the Order of the Court of Common Pleas dismissing her emotional distress claim with prejudice must be affirmed.

- i. Appellant's Emotional Distress claim against SCDMV must be dismissed because it is barred under the doctrine of worker's compensation exclusivity.

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